ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Charleston County

Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

OCT 04 2012

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ALONZA DENNIS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-192370

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in allowing the state's witness, Trevor Gibbs, testify that Dennis tried to sell a gun to him which Dennis allegedly said he had stolen the night before, and to testify that Dennis allegedly said he needed a blast (crack), where these statements were prejudicial to Dennis and put his character into evidence?
2. Did the trial court err in refusing to charge the jury on ABHAN when Dennis testified that he did not intend to shoot the victim but was only trying to scare him?
3. Did the trial court err in sentencing Dennis to LWOP when the state did not provide sufficient documentation that that his out of state conviction for rape in the first degree qualified as a most serious offense under S.C. law because it did not meet the elements to be a strike offense which violated Dennis's Sixth Amendment rights?
4. Did the trial court err in admitting Dennis's two statements into evidence when he told the investigators after the first statement that he did not want to talk, and was coerced into making the second statement when the investigator threatened to send his case to the federal authorities?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 5, 2009, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Alonza Dennis on the charges of assault and battery with intent to kill (ABWIK), attempted armed robbery, and possession of a firearm during a crime of violence. On March 14 – 16, 2011, Dennis proceeded to trial before the Honorable Roger M. Young and a jury. Dennis was represented by Andrew Grimes and Megan Ehrlich, and the state was represented by Jennifer Shealy and Timmy Finch, assistant solicitors. The jury returned a verdict of not guilty on the attempted armed robbery, and a verdict of guilty on the ABWIK and possession of a firearm during a crime of violence. Judge Young sentenced Dennis to the mandatory sentence of life without parole (LWOP) based on a 1987 conviction in the state of New York for rape in the first degree. R. 497, ll. 5 – 25; R. 498, ll. 1 – 25; R. 499, ll. 1 – 25; R. 500, ll. 1 – 25; R. 501, ll. 1 – 22. Dennis' attorney filed a Motion to Reconsider the Sentence on March 25, 2011. Judge Young issued an Order on May 11, 2011 denying the Motion to Reconsider. Dennis' attorney filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

The trial court erred in allowing the state's witness, Trevor Gibbs, to testify that Dennis tried to sell a gun to him which Dennis allegedly said he had stolen the night before, and to testify that Dennis allegedly said he needed a blast (crack), where these statements were prejudicial to Dennis and put his character into evidence.

Appellant Alonza Dennis testified that on June 22, 2009, he left his job raking straw at Santee Straw near McClellanville, and went to the home of an acquaintance, Quan (La Seto Gibson) because he was walking to see another friend when Quan called him. R. 357, ll. 20 – 25; R. 358, l. 1 – 3; R. 370, ll. 15 – 25; R. 371, ll. 1 – 25; R. 372, ll. 1 – 25; R. 373, ll. 1 – 25. Quan and two others, Kaylab and Trevor, were talking about robbing a man who was coming to McCellanville to sell clothes. Dennis did not want to be involved. R. 374, ll. 1 – 25; R. 375, ll. 25. Dennis caught a ride back to the Kangaroo Store with Quan's grandfather who was leaving. R. 375, ll. 1 – 25.

When he got to the store, he waited under the community oak tree for a ride. Then Quan and Kaylab and Trevor rode up in Quan's Crown Vic. Quan told him to get in the car. When he did, he saw a gun on the back seat. R. 377, ll. 1 – 25; R. 378, ll. 1 – 25; R. 379, ll. 1 – 3.

Quan and the other two told him to take the gun and rob the man, Moses Alford, who was at the Kangaroo. R. 379, ll. 4 – 25. Dennis had no intention of robbing Alford, but he was afraid that Quan and the others had other guns in the car they would use against him. R. 380, ll. 1 – 25.

Dennis and Quan and Kaylab got out of the car to look at the clothing Alford had in his car to sell. R. 381, ll. 1 – 25. Dennis heard Quan say to Alford: “Give me your clothes and money.” R. 382, ll. 1 – 25. Alford then began to run about 40 feet when he stopped and turned. Alford pulled up his sweat shirt and Dennis saw Alford’s gun. Alford went for his gun, and Dennis pulled his gun and fired five shots because he feared that Alford was going to shoot him. Three shots hit Alford. Dennis said he was not trying to hit Alford, but just wanted to scare him. R. 383, ll. 1 – 25; R. 384,, ll. 1 – 25; R. 385, ll. 1 – 25; R. 387, ll. 1 – 2; State’s Exhibit 76, Dennis’ statement June 29, 2009..

Dennis then took off running. When law enforcement arrived, they called the K-9 unit who found Dennis in the neighboring woods. R. 386, ll. 1 – 25.

Moses Alford testified that he had his own clothing business in Georgetown, but would take clothes to customers sometimes. R. 112, ll. 1 – 25; R. 113, ll. 1 – 25. On June 22, 2009, Quan called him to see clothes. They agreed that Alford would stop in McClellanville where they would meet. R. 116, ll. 1 – 25; R. 117, ll. 1 – 25; R. 118, ll. 1 – 17.

Alford carried two guns in his car for protection. He had a concealed weapons permit for them. R. 121, ll. 1 – 25; R. 122, ll. 1 – 6. When Quan and Kaylab drove up, Alford became suspicious of the way they were acting so he put his nine millimeter pistol on his side. R. 123, ll. 1 – 25; R. 124, ll. 1 – 25; R. 125, ll. 1 – 12. Quan and Kaylab came to his car and looked at the clothing. R. 127, ll. 1 – 25.

Alford leaned into the back seat to get an article of clothing when another man approached. R. 129, ll. 1 – 25. This man had a gun in his hand and told Alford to give him everything. Alford later identified this man as Dennis from a photo lineup. R. 130, ll. 1 – 25;

R. 131, ll. 1 – 24. Alford then started reaching for his gun when the man shot him in the arm, leg and back when he turned. R. 132, ll. 1 – 21.

Detective Charles Lawrence, the lead investigator, testified that Dennis was arrested the first time on June 22, 2009 for trespassing on the Kangaroo property because he was suspected of shoplifting. He gave a statement at that time that he knew nothing about the shooting. R. 290, ll. 19 – 25; R. 291, ll. 14 – 25; R. 292, ll. 1 – 24; R. 295, ll. 6 – 25; R. 296, ll. 1 – 25; State's Exhibit 75.

After Alford identified Dennis from a photo lineup while Alford was in the hospital, Detective Lawrence again questioned Dennis about the shooting. Dennis gave a second statement on June 29, 2009 and admitted to shooting Alford because he feared Alford was going to shoot him. R. 306, ll. 11 – 25; R. 309, ll. 10 – 17.

Quan, Kaylab, and Trevor Gibbs were also arrested and charged. R. 306, ll. 19 – 24; R. 308, ll. 23 – 25; R. 309, ll. 1 – 9.

Trevor Gibbs testified for the state at Dennis' trial. His testimony was that Quan was a drug dealer who sold weed and crack. Gibbs also sold weed and crack as neither of them had a job. R. 168, ll. 22 – 25; R. 169, ll. 1 – 25; R. 170, ll. 1 – 5. On June 22, 2009, Gibbs and Quan and Kaylab were together and went to the Kangaroo where, according to Gibbs, Dennis approached them. They went to Quan's house where Dennis allegedly tried to sell them a pistol. Gibbs' story was that Dennis said he had stolen the pistol the night before. R. 173, ll. 1 – 25; R. 176, ll. 1 – 25; R. 177, ll. 1 – 25. Dennis allegedly told them he wanted to sell the gun because he needed a "blast" or some crack. R. 178, ll. 1 – 25. Dennis' attorney objected to the testimony about the gun and the crack. R. 176, ll. 17 – 20; R. 178, ll. 17 – 21.

Before Gibbs testified, the state advised the trial court *in camera* that defense counsel objected to two issues that the state wanted Gibbs to testify about. R. 162, ll. 13 – 25; R. 163, ll. 1 – 15. Defense counsel argued that both of these issues would be more prejudicial than probative to Dennis. Counsel argued they were not relevant as motive was not an element of the crime. R. 163, ll. 16 – 25; R. 164, ll. 1 – 25. The judge ruled that the state could go into that testimony on both issues as they were probative as to establishing motive for the robbery. R. 165, ll. 1 – 14.

Rule 403, SCRE, provides that relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury.

In State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009), the Supreme Court held that unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis.

In State v. Chisolm, 395 S.C. 259, 717 S.E.2d 614 (Ct. App. 2011), the Court of Appeals held that all relevant evidence is admissible pursuant to Rule 402, SCRE; however, relevant evidence must be excluded if the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighs the probative value of the evidence.

Rule 404(a)(1), SCRE provides that character evidence generally is not admissible to prove action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion. One exception to this rule is evidence of a pertinent trait of character offered by an accused or by the prosecution to rebut the same.

It was prejudicial to Dennis for the judge to allow the testimony from the state's witness that Dennis had the gun initially and tried to sell it. The witness, Gibbs, was biased

as he was a co-defendant. There was evidence that Quan, Kaylab, and Gibbs had the gun especially since Gibbs admitted they sold drugs. The biased witness testifying that Dennis used drugs was not reliable evidence. Nothing had been introduced by Dennis concerning his use of drugs. Therefore, the state was not introducing the testimony to rebut evidence that Dennis did not use drugs as Dennis had not testified at that time.

The state argued in their closing argument at least twice that Dennis stole the gun to sell for crack. R. 466, ll. 12 – 25; R. 467, ll. 1 – 25; R. 468, ll. 1 – 25; R. 469, ll. 1 – 16. There was no evidence to support this.

## ARGUMENT

### II.

The trial court erred in refusing to charge the jury on ABHAN when Dennis testified that he did not intend to shoot the victim but was only trying to scare him.

At close of the evidence, defense counsel asked the judge to instruct the jury on assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) which was a lesser included charge of ABWIK. Counsel argued that the shooting incident occurred under a “heat of passion and sudden provocation.” Counsel argued that Dennis was there only as part of the robbery as he had no ill will towards the victim. Dennis was scared and panicked so he started shooting. He wanted to scare the victim. R. 445, ll. 11 – 25; R. 446, ll. 1 – 4.

The state was opposed to the ABHAN charge because shooting a gun was not ABHAN. R. 446, ll. 5 – 12.

The judge agreed with the state and ruled that drawing a weapon and shooting did away with the lesser included charge of ABHAN. R. 446, ll. 13 – 25. Defense counsel argued that in murder cases, voluntary manslaughter was given as a jury instruction in heat of passion cases as a lesser included charge of murder. Therefore, ABHAN should be given as a lesser charge in ABWIK cases when it was a heat of passion case. He again argued that Dennis did not intend to shoot the victim but was shooting to scare him. R. 446, ll. 1 – 4; R. 447, ll. 12 – 25.

After the judge charged the jury, defense counsel renewed his objections concerning his requested jury charges. R. 494, ll. 1 – 7.

The law to be charged is determined by the evidence presented at trial. State v. Geiger, 370 S.C. 600, 635 S.E.2d 669 (Ct. App. 2006) citing State v. Gourdine, 322 S.C.

396, 398, 472 S.E.2d 241 (1996); State v. Gaines, Op. No. (S.C. Supreme Court filed October 6, 2008) citing State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007).

The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial. State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391 (2001); State v. Lee, 298 S.C. 362, 364, 380 S.E.2d 834, 835 (1989). A trial court's decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed, where the charge as a whole properly charged the law to be applied. State v. Rye, 375 S.C. 119, 651 S.E.2d 321 (2007).

A jury charge is sufficient if, when considered as a whole, it covers the law applicable to the case. State v. Curry, 370 S.C. 674, 636 S.E.2d 649 (Ct. App. 2006). Jury instructions should be considered as a whole, and if as a whole they are free from error, any isolated portions which may be misleading do not constitute reversible error. State v. Smith, 315 S.C. 547, 446 S.E.2d 411 (1994). In State v. Williams, 367 S.C. 192, 624 S.E.2d 443 (Ct. App. 2005), the Court ruled that if there was any evidence to support a requested jury charge, the trial court should grant the request.

In State v. Jones, 133 S.C. 167, 179, 130 S.E.2d 747, 741 (1925), the Supreme Court held that ABHAN was a lesser included offense of ABWIK. William McAninch, W. Gaston Fairey, Lesley Coggiola, The Criminal Law of South Carolina, Fifth Edition 207 (2007). The Supreme Court in State v. Jones, id., also defined ABHAN as "an unlawful act of violent injury to the person of another, accompanied by circumstances of aggravation such as the use of a deadly weapon, the infliction of serious bodily injury."

Therefore, the jury instruction of ABHAN as a lesser included offense would have been appropriate.

## ARGUMENT

### III.

The trial court erred in admitting Dennis's two statements into evidence when he told the investigators after the first statement that he did not want to talk, and was coerced into making the second statement when the investigator threatened to send his case to the federal authorities.

Pretrial, defense counsel made a motion to suppress both statements made by Dennis. The court held a hearing pursuant to Jackson v. Denno, R. 3, ll. 18 – 21.

Detective Albert Casales testified that when he arrived on the scene shortly after the shooting, he received information that Dennis may be involved. After Dennis was detained by the dog team, Detective Casales read him his *Miranda* rights. R. 5, ll. 6 – 25; R. 6, ll. 1 – 25; R. 7, ll. 1 – 19. Dennis did not make any statements to him because he told the detective that he did not want to talk at that time. Dennis did not ask for an attorney. R. 17, ll. 12 – 23; R. 18, ll. 1 – 25; R. 19, l. 1 – 15.

Detective Kip Cooke testified that Dennis was arrested the first time for trespassing. R. 20, ll. 18 – 25. Dennis was taken to the sheriff's office on June 22, 2009 where Detective Cooke read the *Miranda* rights to him again. He told Dennis that he was arrested for trespassing, but that there had been a shooting they wanted to question Dennis about. R. 20, ll. 24-25; R. 21, ll. 1 – 25; R. 33, ll. 6 – 25; R. 34, ll. 1 – 12.

Then Detective Charles Lawrence, who was the lead investigator in this case, came in and started questioning Dennis. R. 20, ll. 24 – 25; R. 21, ll. 1 – 25; R. 34, ll. 8 – 12. Detective Lawrence testified that it was his understanding that on June 22, 2009, Dennis was being detained for a shooting incident. However, he had been arrested for trespassing.

R. 44, ll. 8 – 25; R. 45, ll. 1 – 25. On June 22, 2009, Dennis gave a statement to the investigator that he did not know anything about the shooting. R. 49, ll. 1 – 25.

On June 29, 2009, Detective Lawrence brought Dennis in for questioning again about the shooting incident because the victim had identified Dennis from a photo lineup as being the shooter. R. 50, ll. 13 – 25; R. 51, ll. 1 – 21. Detective Lawrence read Dennis his *Miranda* rights again. R. 52, ll. 1 – 25. Dennis gave a statement on June 29 admitting that he shot Alford but he did it because he feared that the victim was going to shoot him. State's Exhibit 76; June 29, 2009 Statement; R. 72, ll. 6 – 25; R. 73, ll. 1 – 25.

Dennis testified at the hearing that he got scared when Detective Lawrence told him that the Feds could pick up his case, and that it would be harder on him then. He would get more time with the Feds. When Detective Lawrence told him this was his last chance to make a statement, then Dennis decided to give a statement. R. 77, ll. 1 – 25; R. 78, ll. 1 – 25; R. 79, ll. 1 – 6.

Detective Lawrence admitted that he and Detective Cooke may have talked outside the interview room about offering Dennis' case to the Feds, and that Dennis may have overheard this. R. 71, ll. 1 – 25; R. 72, ll. 1 – 2.

Defense counsel argued that the June 22, 2009 statement should be suppressed because Dennis told Detective Casales that he did not want to talk, and therefore invoked his right to remain silent. That information was not passed on to the other detectives. Detective Lawrence then questioned Dennis later that same day. Counsel argued the case of Michigan v. Mosley, 423 U.S. 96 (1975) which held that if an accused invoked his right to remain silent, the police could resume questioning as long as the original request to cease questioning was "scrupulously honored." R. 88, ll. 24 – 25; R. 89, ll. 1 – 12.

Counsel argued that the June 29, 2009 statement should be suppressed because Dennis was threatened by Detective Lawrence saying the Feds could take his case, and he would get more time. R. 89, ll. 13 – 25; R. 90, ll. 1 – 25; R. 91, ll. 1 – 14.

The judge denied the motion to suppress both statements. R. 95, ll. 22 – 25; R. 96, ll. 1 – 24.

The Court of Appeals held in State v. Franklin, 390 S.C. 535, 702 S.E.2d 568 (Ct. App. 2010), that when reviewing a trial court's ruling concerning the voluntariness of a statement, the appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence.

The trial court's factual conclusions as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to constitute as abuse of discretion. Id.

In Dennis' case, the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the statements because Dennis had invoked his right to remain silent on the first statement, and this should have been honored throughout the case.

## ARGUMENT

### IV.

The trial court erred in sentencing Dennis to LWOP when the state did not provide sufficient documentation that the out of state conviction qualified as a most serious offense under S.C. law because it did not meet the elements required to be a strike offense which violated Dennis's Sixth Amendment rights.

After the verdict and at sentencing, defense counsel argued that the sentence of life without parole (LWOP), was not appropriate because the state had not submitted sufficient proof that the out of state charge which was used to enhance Dennis' sentence to LWOP that the charge met the elements required to be a strike offense in South Carolina. Counsel also argued that LWOP in Dennis' case would constitute cruel and unusual punishment. R. 498, ll. 3 – 25.

The state argued that the paperwork from New York indicated that Dennis was convicted of rape of his ten year old step niece. The court ruled that was a strike. However, he told counsel to submit a brief along with a motion to reconsider the sentence, but the judge was going ahead with sentencing. R. 499, ll. 1 – 25.

In his Motion to Reconsider which counsel filed March 25, 2011, counsel argued that the trial court violated the Sixth Amendment and S.C. Code Section 17-25-45 when it considered the computer printouts from New York as qualifying the offense as a most serious offense under South Carolina law. Counsel argued that Dennis' Sixth Amendment right to have a jury of his peers determine any disputed fact related to the LWOP sentence was violated. Counsel then argued that Section 17-25-45 was violated when the trial court

did not use the categorical approach to determine whether the 1987 conviction constituted a most serious offense.

Counsel cited the case of Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), which held that “other than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum, must be submitted to a jury and proved beyond a reasonable doubt.” In Apprendi, the sentence was enhanced on the basis that the “hate” crime was committed with a biased purpose. Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion to Reconsider, p. 4.

Dennis argued that his case was similar to Apprendi’s in that Dennis was not challenging his prior conviction in New York. He was challenging whether it constituted a most serious offense in South Carolina; and therefore a jury needed to determine that issue. Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion to Reconsider, p. 6.

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