ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Charleston County  
Honorable Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Tracking No: 2011-192370

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

ALONZA DENNIS,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JULIE KATE KEENEY  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

---

<sup>7</sup>The "categorical approach" Appellant urges this Court to adopt applies to cases involving the federal sentencing guidelines and is inapplicable in South Carolina. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(A)(1)(b) (requiring a sentence of life imprisonment following conviction for a "most serious" offense if the defendant has a prior "out-of-state conviction for an offense that would be classified as a most serious offense **under this section**[.]") (emphasis added).

### **E. Harmless Error**

Assuming, arguendo, the trial judge erred in relying on the computer printouts, any error was harmless because the signed and sealed Certificate of Disposition Indictment clearly indicated Appellant was convicted under subsection 3 of New York's rape in the first degree statute, which was the equivalent of South Carolina's CSC with a minor. See State v. Arnold, 319 S.C. 256, 460 S.E.2d 403 (Ct.App.1995) (holding Rule 220(c), SCACR, allows the court of appeals to affirm on any ground appearing in the record).

#### IV.

**The trial judge properly admitted Appellant's two statements because Appellant's right to remain silent was scrupulously honored. Furthermore, Appellant abandoned his coercion argument on appeal. In addition, Appellant failed to obtain a ruling on the coercion issue; therefore, the issue was not preserved. Moreover, there was evidence in the record that supported the trial judge's decision. Regardless, any error in admitting the statements was harmless.**

Appellant argues his statements were inadmissible because his right to remain silent was not scrupulously honored by the detectives. Furthermore, Appellant's trial counsel argued Appellant's second statement was inadmissible because Detective Lawrence allegedly told Appellant he could take his case to the federal authorities and Appellant could get more time. However, Appellant merely stated he did not want to talk "at that time." Thus, the investigators scrupulously honored Appellant's right to remain silent when they waited five to six hours to interview Appellant for the second time. Moreover, Appellant abandoned the coercion argument on appeal. Furthermore, Detective Lawrence testified he never threatened Appellant by stating he would take Appellant's case to the federal authorities. Thus, there is evidence in the record that supported the trial judge's ruling that Appellant voluntarily made the statements. Therefore, this Court should affirm the trial judge's ruling on the admissibility of the two statements.

When determining whether or not a statement is voluntary, the trial judge must conduct an evidentiary hearing, outside the presence of the jury. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145,162, 682 S.E.2d 19, 28 (Ct. App. 2009). During the evidentiary hearing, the State must prove the statement was voluntarily made by a preponderance of the evidence. Id. If the trial judge finds the statement voluntary and admissible, an appellate court will not reverse unless the decision was so erroneous as to demonstrate an abuse of discretion. Id. In other words, when reviewing a trial judge's ruling concerning voluntariness, the appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view

of the preponderance of the evidence, but instead determines whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence. State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 136, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001).

#### A. The June 22<sup>nd</sup> Statement

Approximately five to six hours after Detective Casale advised Appellant of his rights at the Kangaroo station and Appellant stated he did not want to talk “at that time,” Detective Kip Cooke advised Appellant of his rights at the police headquarters. (R. pp. 13-19; R. p. 21; R. p. 23.) Thereafter, Appellant signed the waiver of rights form. (R. p. 27.)

At 9:04 p.m., Detective Lawrence began the interview. (R. p. 57.) Neither Detective Cooke nor Detective Lawrence knew Appellant told Detective Casale that he did not want to talk at that time. (R. p. 33; R. pp. 65-66.) Furthermore, Appellant never told Detective Lawrence he did not want to talk. (R. pp. 47-48.) Moreover, Appellant never asked for an attorney. (R. p. 28; R. p. 48.)

During the interview, Detective Lawrence did not make any promises or threats. (R. p. 48.) Appellant made a statement essentially denying any involvement in the robbery. Appellant stated he did not know why he was under arrest. (R. pp. 502.) The interview lasted approximately two hours. (R. p. 47.)

“A statement obtained as a result of custodial interrogation is inadmissible unless the suspect was advised of and voluntarily waived his rights under Miranda . . . .” State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 30, 538 S.E.2d 248, 253 (2000) (internal citations omitted). When determining whether or not a statement was voluntarily made, courts look at the totality of the circumstances. Id.

“When a suspect invokes his right to remain silent, law enforcement officers must scrupulously honor it. However, before law enforcement officers are required to discontinue

questioning, the suspect must clearly articulate his desire to end the interrogation.” Aleksey, 343 S.C. at 31, 538 S.E.2d at 253 (internal citations omitted).

A five factor test has been adopted from Mosley<sup>8</sup> to determine whether a defendant’s right to cut off questioning was “scrupulously honored”:

- (1) whether the suspect was given *Miranda* warnings at the first interrogation;
- (2) whether police immediately ceased the interrogation when the suspect indicated he did not want to answer questions;
- (3) whether police resumed questioning the suspect only after the passage of a significant period of time;
- (4) whether police provided a fresh set of *Miranda* warnings before the second interrogation;
- and (5) whether the second interrogation was restricted to a crime that had not been a subject of earlier interrogation.

State v. Benjamin, 345 S.C. 470, 476, 549 S.E.2d 258, 261 (2001) (citations omitted).

“However, the Mosley factors are not exclusively controlling, nor do they establish a test which can be woodenly applied.” Benjamin, 345 S.C. at 477, 549 S.E.2d at 261. “Rather the factors provide a framework for determining whether, under the circumstances, an accused’s right to silence was scrupulously honored.” Id.

First, Detective Casale advised Appellant of his rights under Miranda before any any interrogation took place. (R. pp. 7-9; R. p. 13.) Right after Detective Casale read Appellant his rights, Appellant told Detective Casale that he did not really want to talk “at that time.” (R. p. 17.) Thus, no interrogation took place at that time.

Second, Detective Casale did not interrogate Appellant after Appellant said he did not want to talk “at that time.” (R. pp. 13-19; R. p. 21; R. p. 23.)

Third, Detective Lawrence began questioning Appellant approximately five to six hours after Appellant stated he did not really want to talk “at that time.” (R. p. 21; R. p. 23; R. p. 95.);

---

<sup>8</sup> Michigan v. Mosley, 423 U.S. 96 (1975).

Cf. Benjamin, 345 S.C. at 478, 549 S.E.2d at 262 (holding the defendant's right to remain silent was scrupulously honored when the police resumed questioning one hour after the defendant invoked his right to remain silent ); State v. Franklin, 390 S.C. 535, 541, 702 S.E.2d 568, 572 (2010) (holding the defendant's right to remain silent was scrupulously honored when the police resumed questioning three hours after the defendant invoked his right to remain silent); Mills v. Commonwealth, 996 S.W.2d 473 (Ky. 1999), *overruled on other grounds*, (holding no Miranda violation after defendant invoked his right to remain silent with the first officer, and twenty minutes a second officer questioned the defendant about the same crime).

Fourth, Detective Cooke provided a fresh set of Miranda warnings before Detective Lawrence began the interrogation. (R. p. 21; R. p. 23.)

Fifth, because Detective Casale never interrogated Appellant, there was really no "second interrogation" on June 22<sup>nd</sup>. (R. pp. 44-45.) Thus, the fifth factor is not helpful to the analysis. However, even if the detectives conducted a subsequent interrogation concerning the same subject matter, that in itself is not a violation of Appellant's right to remain silent. See Benjamin, 345 S.C. at 478, 549 S.E.2d at 262 ("[A] subsequent interrogation concerning the same crime does not, in and of itself, violate an accused's rights to remain silent . . .".)

Finally, Appellant told Detective Casale that he did not really want to talk "at that time." (R. p. 17.) Thus, Appellant did not make an unequivocal invocation of his right to discontinue questioning. See Aleksey, 343 S.C. at 31, 538 S.E.2d at 253-254 (holding that the defendant's statement, "[t]hat's all I have to say," was ambiguous and not an unequivocal invocation of his right to remain silent.)

In summary, the detectives scrupulously honored Appellant's right to remain silent.

## **B. The June 29<sup>th</sup> Statement**

At trial, Appellant claimed the detectives coerced him into making a statement because they allegedly threatened to send his case to the federal authorities. However, on appeal, Appellant failed to cite authority supporting his coercion claim; therefore, Appellant abandoned the issue. Furthermore, Appellant failed to preserve the issue for appeal because he never requested a ruling on his coercion argument. Moreover, the record supports the trial judge's finding that the statement was voluntary.

### ***i. Appellant abandoned the coercion argument.***

In Appellant's Statement of Issue, Appellant claimed he was coerced into making the second statement when Detective Lawrence allegedly threatened to send Appellant's case to the federal authorities.<sup>9</sup>

However, Appellant merely recited the trial testimony and arguments made by Appellant's trial counsel. Appellant never adopted his trial counsel's arguments. Moreover, Appellant never cited any authority supporting his coercion claim. Cf. State v. Hill, 394 S.C. 280, 296-297, 715 S.E.2d 368, 377-378 (Ct. App. 2011) (holding the issue was abandoned when appellate counsel merely recited the extensive testimony and arguments of trial counsel without adopting trial counsel's argument, and appellate counsel only made a two sentence conclusory argument with citation to only one case with no analysis whatsoever as to why the case applied); State v. Colf, 332 S.C. 313, 332, 504 S.E.2d 360, 364 (Ct. App. 1998) (affirmed as modified by

---

<sup>9</sup> At trial, Appellant first argued that the June 29<sup>th</sup> statement was inadmissible under Mosley. However, shortly thereafter, Appellant conceded there had been a significant amount of time between the invocation of Appellant's right to remain silent and the June 29<sup>th</sup> statement. (R. p. 94.) Therefore, Appellant asked the Court to suppress the June 29<sup>th</sup> statement based solely upon the alleged threat of Appellant's case going federal. (R. p. 95.) Thus, any argument that the June 29<sup>th</sup> statement was inadmissible under Mosley was waived. Nevertheless, because the June 22<sup>nd</sup> statement was admissible under Mosley, the June 29<sup>th</sup> statement was clearly admissible under Mosley (i.e. seven days between Appellant's "invocation" of his right to remain silent and the interrogation).

State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 525 S.E.2d 246 (2000) (holding a conclusory two-paragraph argument citing no authority other than an evidentiary rule was deemed abandoned on appeal); Wright v. Craft, 372 S.C. 1, 20, 640 S.E.2d 486, 497 (Ct.App.2006) (finding an issue listed in the statement of issues on appeal but not addressed in the brief is abandoned).

Because Appellant's coercion argument is merely conclusory, Appellant abandoned the issue on appeal.

***ii. Appellant failed to preserve the coercion argument.***

During the evidentiary hearing, Appellant argued the June 29<sup>th</sup> statement was inadmissible because the investigators allegedly threatened to give Appellant's case to the federal authorities. (R. p. 95.) The trial judge ultimately found the statement voluntary. (R. p. 96.) However, the trial judge never specifically ruled upon the coercion argument.

Appellant failed to request a specific ruling as to the coercion issue; therefore, the issue was not preserved for appeal. See State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) ("In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and **ruled upon** by the trial [court]. Issues not raised and **ruled upon** in the trial court will **not** be considered on appeal.") (emphasis added); see also State v. McLaughlin, 307 S.C. 19, 23, 413 S.E.2d 819, 821 (1992) ("Moreover, the trial judge's general ruling that the statements were admissible does not constitute reversible error. McLaughlin's failure to request a more explicit ruling constitutes a waiver to any objection to the judge's general ruling. Finally, since the record supports the judge's implicit ruling that McLaughlin's *Miranda* rights were voluntarily waived, the failure to make a more detailed ruling is harmless.") (internal citations omitted).

Therefore, Appellant failed to preserve the coercion issue by not demanding a specific ruling on his coercion argument.

*iii. The trial judge's finding that the statement was voluntary was supported by evidence.*

During the evidentiary hearing, Appellant claimed the detectives threatened to send his case to the federal authorities. However, the detectives testified they never threatened Appellant or promised Appellant anything. Moreover, Detective Lawrence specifically denied ever telling Appellant that his case would go to the federal authorities if he did not make a statement.

Because Appellant failed to obtain a specific ruling regarding the coercion issue, it is unclear on how the trial judge came to the determination that the statement was voluntary. On one hand, the trial judge could have found the detectives' testimony credible and Appellant's testimony not credible.<sup>10</sup> On the other hand, the trial judge could have found that Appellant's version of events did not rise to the level of coercion necessary to find a statement involuntary based upon the totality of the circumstances. Therefore, the fact this Court cannot pinpoint the reason the trial judge admitted the testimony reiterates the fact that the coercion issue was not preserved for review.

However, because of this Court's limited standard of review, all this Court needs to decide is whether there was any evidence to support the trial judge's finding that the statement was voluntary. See Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 136, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252. Because the detectives testified they never threatened to take Appellant's case to the federal authorities unless Appellant made a

---

<sup>10</sup> See State v. Smith, 383 S.C. 159, 167-168, 679 S.E.2d 176, 181 (2009) ("Clearly, the trial judge was in the best position to assess the credibility of the witnesses that testified at the hearing on the motion for a new trial."); State v. Cutro, 332 S.C. 100, 117, 504 S.E.2d 324, 332 (1998) ("The trial judge, not this Court, is in the best position to be arbiter of [the witness'] credibility."); State v. Tutton, 354 S.C. 319, 325, 580 S.E.2d 186, 190 (Ct. App. 2003) ("The determination of a witness's credibility must be left to the trial judge who saw and heard the witness and is therefore in a better position to evaluate his or her veracity."); see also State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 387, 652 S.E.2d 444, 453 (Ct. App. 2007) (upholding the trial judge's finding of voluntariness where defendant's attorney claimed the defendant was coerced into making statements by a promise of a lenient sentence; however, three law enforcement officials and an assistant attorney general denied any promise of leniency).

statement, there is evidence in the record to support the trial judge's ruling that the statement was voluntary, and this Court should affirm. See Id.

### **C. Harmless Error**

Even if the trial judge erred in admitting the two statements, any error was harmless. See Bell, 302 S.C. at 27, 393 S.E.2d at 369 (noting exclusion of evidence is reversible only where error and prejudice are shown); see also Haselden, 353 S.C. at 197, 577 S.E.2d at 448-49 (noting admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence).

With respect to the June 22<sup>nd</sup> statement, Appellant did not make an incriminating statement. At most, the statement called into question Appellant's credibility. However, Appellant's credibility was already called into question because of his prior conviction for grand larceny. Thus, Appellant suffered no prejudice from the admission of the June 22<sup>nd</sup> statement.

With respect to the June 29<sup>th</sup> statement, Appellant suffered no prejudice because Appellant's testimony was consistent with the statement. Thus, the statement was merely cumulative to his testimony.